9378-0

FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 SEP 10 PM 4:56

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF, WASHINGTON

**DIVISION TWO** 

8Y. DEPUTY

45504-8

Bessie Willaims

Plaintiff/Petitioner

V

.

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1 ) Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it did not review de novo whether Respondents First Transit and Central Bible met their initial burden of proof, contrary to and inconsistent with Supreme Court case law, Court of Appeals case law and CR 56 (e)?

2) Whether the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted APR 8(b) and improperly cancelled Coleman's pro hac vice status without proper notice and an opportunity to be heard?

3) Whether the Court of Appeals erred in not reviewing de novo standard of review to all trial court rulings made in conjunction with the summary judgment motion under Folsom v Burger King and Keck v Collins?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### V. ARGUMENT

1. Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (4) because its holding is in conflict with a holding from the Washington Supreme Court and because it is in conflict with a decision of a Court of Appeals Decision.

2. Applying an abuse of discretion standard to a trial court's rejection of untimely pleadings is inconsistent with authority from a Court of Appeals holding that a trial court's order denying a CR 56(f) motion is reviewed de novo

# I. IDENTITYS OF THE PETITONER

ŧ

The Petitioner is Bessie M. Williams, Plaintiff in the superior court, where she brought a claim of negligence against Defendants First Transit, John Doe, Central Bible and the City of Tacoma. She was also the appellant on appeal to Division II of the Washington State Court of Appeals. Petitioner respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion.

# **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, the Petitioner seeks review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed on August 11, 2015, in this captioned case. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is provided in Appendix A.

# **III. ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it did not review de novo whether Respondants First Transit and Central Bible met their initial burden of proof, contrary to and inconsistent with Washington State Supreme Court case law, Court of Appeals case law and CR 56 (e)?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted APR (b) and improperly cancelled pro hac vice attorney's status without proper notice and an opportunity to be heard?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in not reviewing de novo all court rulings made in conjunction with the summary judgment motion under Folsom v Burger King and Collins?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Bessie Williams (Appellant) filed a complaint against First Transit, John Doe ( Halsten) and Central Bible Evangelical Church (Central Bible) on October 25, 2011. She states that on October 26, 2008, she was being transported by John Doe, an employee of First Transit by bus to a church event at Central Bible. CP 2 paragraph 9; After they arrived at the church . She states that the driver Halsten was pushing her wheelchair on the sidewalk to the door of the church, he started running as he pushed the wheelchair. Id. Despite Appellant's pleas to stop, Defendant Halsten continued to run as he pushed the wheelchair. Id. The wheel of the wheelchair hit a raised crack in the sidewalk, causing the wheelchair to stop abruptly, causing the wheelchair to stop abruptly and causing Plaintiff to fall forward out of the wheelchair. Id. Plaintiff says that she felt herself in the air after she left the wheelchair. CP 534-555. At her deposition, Ms Williams indicated that Halsten was "running up the hill" and the she "felt it was going to fast for him to stop". CP pp. 534-555. She begged him several times to stop running while pushing her and he told her that it was okay because he pumped iron. Id. She stated that she was scared for her life and that the wheelchair hit a crack in the sidewalk, came to an abrupt stop and she felt herself fly out of the wheelchair; she landed face down. She suffered numerous injuries from this accident. CP 2. As a result of this accident, some of the injuries Plaintiff suffered, include: a bruised forehead, a chipped tooth, a closed head injury, and injured leg and shoulders. CP 2, paragraph 15.

r

On August 2, 2013 both Respondents file a motion for summary judgment. CP 534-555;

CP 500-512. The motion was scheduled for August 30, 2013. That motion was

rescheduled, as new counsel had just come into the case on behalf of Ms. Williams. Respondents objected to the rescheduling because counsel filed a late notice of appearance. RP 3-10. The motion was rescheduled to September 20, 2013. The court informed Mr. Ewetuga, the new counsel, to respond to the motion by September 9, 2013 or send opposing counsel letters indicating that he would not oppose the motion. RP 8-9. On September 20, 2013, all parties appeared for the hearing. Mr. Ewetuga indicated to the court that Ms. Williams pro hac vice counsel from Michigan was not able to appear, and presented to the court a declaration from the out of town counsel, which state that her mother was ill and she couldn't be present; that declaration further asked the court for a short continuance and to schedule a phone conference so that she could be present telephonically. RP 12-19. The court denied the request indicating that since Ms. Coleman, Williams pro hac vice counsel, was no longer permitted to practice, it was a moot point; that any document she submitted be strickenas she could not consider them. RP 17. (those documents included: affidavits of Alkenneth Gurley and Carol Williams which were submitted electronically through LINX by local counsel Michael Ewetuga). RP 617-619,620-622 . Appellant's local counsel then indicated to the court that in light of Appellant's pro hac vice counsel situation, he had prepared for one of the motions and was ready to proceed if the court wished. The court likewise denied, indicating that since the stricken documents were not being considered, she was treating the motion as unopposed. RP 12-19. The court then entered summary judgment for the respondents, without indicating what documents or other evidence was called to the attention of trial court before the judgment was entered. RAP 9.12.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) (1),(2),(4) because its holding is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court, anc in conflict with the Court of Appeals.

A petition for review may be accepted by this Court when a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), or when a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Here, review should be granted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is inln conflict with this Court's opinion in Folsom v Burger King, 135 Wn 2d 658 (1998). Folsom held that all trial court rulings in conjuction with a summary judgment motion should be reviewed de novo. The Court of Appeal decision here used an abuse of discretion standard regarding if the trial court properly struck untimely affidavits.

# CONCLUSION

Because the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with a Supreme Court's ruling and a Court of Appeals ruling, review should be accepted. Petitioner respectfully asks the Washington State Supreme Court to grant the petition for review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed August 11, 2015, pursuant to RAP 13.4 (a)(1)(2)(4).

Basie M. William