JAN () 4 2016 Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

NO. 92368-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BESSIE WILLIAMS, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

JOHN DOE, FIRST TRANSIT, INC.; CITY OF TACOMA; CENTRAL BIBLE EVANGELICAL CHURCH, Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENT FIRST TRANSIT'S
RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION
FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON
STATE SUPREME COURT

Laura E. Kruse, WSBA #32947 Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents First Transit, Inc. Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927 Telephone: (206) 292-9988



FILED AS

I. INTRODUCTION AND FACTS

A. Background Facts

Ms. Williams filed her Complaint on October 25, 2011 against First Transit and Central Bible Church. (Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 1-4). With respect to First Transit, Ms. Williams alleges that she was driven to the Central Bible Church in a shuttle bus on or about October 26, 2008. (*Id.* at 2, ¶ 9). Ms. Williams alleges that the shuttle driver, Mr. Halsten, was running while pushing her wheelchair on the sidewalk and that she was injured when the wheel of the wheelchair hit a raised crack in the sidewalk, causing the wheelchair abruptly and causing her to fall forward out of the wheelchair. (*Id.*). Ms. Williams alleges that her injuries were caused by First Transit's breach of their duties. (*Id.* at $\P 12-13$).

B. Procedural Posture

The procedural history of this litigation has been tortuous. On June 18, 2013, local counsel for Ms. Williams (David Britton), who was the attorney that submitted a *pro hac vice* application for Ms. Williams' Michigan counsel, Ms. Coleman, filed a notice of intent to withdraw. This notice indicated that Mr. Britton no longer was going to represent Ms. Williams or associate with Ms. Coleman. (CP at 377 – 378). Despite the lack of counsel of record for Ms. Williams, First Transit timely served Ms. Coleman and Ms. Williams with a copy of their Motion for Summary

Judgment on August 2, 2013. (CP at 517 - 529, 633 - 650). Both Ms. Coleman and Ms. Williams failed to respond to First Transit's motion by the original deadline of August 19, 2013. (CP at 586 - 599, 602 - 608).

Ms. Williams' new local counsel, Michael Ewetuga, filed a Notice of Appearance on August 21, 2013. (CP at 560, 561). This Notice was not served on First Transit. (CP at 653, ¶ 11). Mr. Ewetuga then contacted First Transit's counsel on August 22, 2013 to request an extension of time to respond. (Id.). Although First Transit refused, noting that counsel needed to formally move the court for an extension. However, Ms. Williams failed to file any such request with the trial court prior to the August 30, 2013 summary judgment hearing date. (Id.). Instead, Mr. Ewetuga presented himself at the hearing and argued that he had insufficient time to move for an extension because he had other motions on his calendar and had not been feeling well. (Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings ("TP") at 4). Mr. Ewetuga also stated at the hearing that he was new to the matter and additional time should be granted for him to evaluate the claim and assess whether an opposition should be filed. (TP at 8).

The trial court granted Mr. Ewetuga's oral request to extend the deadline by which to respond to First Transit's and Central Bible's respective motions for summary judgment. (TP at 8-9). At that time, the

trial court directed Mr. Ewetuga to file and serve a response, or to provide a letter to counsel and the trial court stating that no response would be filed, no later than close of business on September 9, 2013. (*Id.*). As First Transit's Second Reply reflects, no response was received by the end of the day on September 9, 2013. (CP at 586 - 587). Ms. Williams did not file her response and supporting declarations until September 11, 2013 – two days after the deadline set by the trial court. (*Id.*; CP at 654, ¶ 13). Moreover, notwithstanding Mr. Ewetuga's request to the trial court and argument that he needed additional time to evaluate the claim, Ms. Williams' opposition to First Transit's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by Ms. Coleman. (*CP* at 653 - 654, ¶ 12).

At the second summary judgment hearing on September 20, 2013, Mr. Ewetuga appeared with an e-mail from Ms. Coleman, sent the night before, telling him that she would not be attending the hearing. (TP at 16). The trial court noted that it had not received working copies of the documents filed by Ms. Coleman and that although Ms. Coleman filed the documents, "her admission as *pro hac vice* has not been reaffirmed because Mr. Britton had withdrawn from the case." (TP at 12 – 13).

The trial court held that Ms. Williams' opposition materials were untimely, not in compliance with Pierce County Local Rules as no working copies were provided, and that the trial court could not consider

the filed documents because Ms. Coleman was not licensed in Washington. (TP at 17). The trial court considered the summary judgment motions unopposed and granted both Central Bible's and First Transit's motions for summary judgment. (TP at 18). The trial court also denied Ms. Coleman's e-mail request for a second postponement as moot. (TP at 19). Ms. Williams filed a Motion for Reconsideration on October 1, 2013. (CP at 697 – 715). This motion was untimely as it was filed more than ten days after the trial court entered its Orders on summary judgment, in violation of the Civil Rules. Ms. Williams also failed to serve her Motion for Reconsideration on First Transit or Central Bible. Her motion was denied.

C. Decision of Court of Appeals Division II

Clerk's Papers were prepared on December 5, 2013 pursuant to Ms. Williams' request for review to the Court of Appeals, Division II. (CP at 716 – 719). Ms. Williams failed to timely file her Opening Brief and instead requested an extension of 45 days. Although the appellate court noted that the reasons provided did not support granting an extension, an extension was given until June 9, 2014 in the interest of justice. In her Brief, Ms. Williams alleged that the trial court erred in (1) granting First Transit's Motion for Summary Judgment; (2) granting Central Bible's Motion for Summary Judgment; (3) not granting a short continuance

pursuant to CR 56(f) and CR 6(b); (4) striking the affidavits of Carol Williams and Alkenneth Gurley; and (5) not allowing Ms. Coleman to appear pursuant to APR 8(b).

The Court of Appeals filed its Opinion on August 11, 2015. The court held that: (1) the superior court did not abuse its discretion in striking untimely opposition documents and denying a second continuance because Ms. Williams failed to demonstrate a good reason for delay or delineate evidence that would be established through another continuance that would raise a genuine issue of material fact; (2) under a de novo standard of review, Ms. Williams' pro hac vice counsel automatically lost her association with local counsel and her ability to appear in Washington when local counsel withdrew and, therefore, the superior court properly struck opposition materials signed and filed by her; (3) under a de novo standard of review, and considering all evidence available to the superior court including the stricken opposition materials, summary judgment in favor of First Transit was proper because Ms. Williams failed to offer any evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact; and (4) under a de novo standard of review, and considering all evidence available to the superior court including the stricken opposition materials, summary judgment in favor of Central Bible was proper because Ms. Williams failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact related to duty, breach and causation.

D. Appeal for Discretionary Review to Washington Supreme Court Should be Denied

Ms. Williams filed a Petition for Review by the Washington State Supreme Court on September 10, 2015. Therein, she alleges the Court of Appeals erred when it did not review de novo whether First Transit and Central Bible met their initial burden of proof on summary judgment, erred when it incorrectly interpreted APR 8(b) and cancelled her counsel's *pro hac vice* status, and erred when it applied an abuse of discretion standard to the superior court's rejection of untimely opposition materials. As further detailed below, there is no basis or support for any of the alleged errors. The Court of Appeals decision should be upheld.

II. RESPONSE

The Court should deny Ms. Williams' Petition for Review for the following reasons:

A. Court of Appeals' Interpretation of APR 8(b) is Correct

Interpretation of court rules is subject to de novo review. State v. McEnroe, 174 Wn.2d 795, 279 P.3d 861 (2012). Courts interpret court rules the same way they interpret statutes, using the tools of statutory construction. State v. Hawkins, 181 Wn.2d 170, 332 P.3d 408 (2014). If a

¹ Ms. Williams improperly served an "Amended Petition for Review by the Washington State Supreme Court on December 31, 2015. For the reasons stated below, this "Amended Petition" should be stricken.

court rule's meaning is plain on its face, courts must give effect to that meaning as an expression of the drafter's intent. *Jafar v. Webb*, 177 Wn.2d 520, 303 P.3d 1042 (2013). Simply stated, the starting point for interpretation of a court rule is the rule's plain language and ordinary meaning. *Business Services of America II, Inc. v. WaferTech LLC*, 174 Wn.2d 304, 274 P.3d 1025 (2012). Court rules must be interpreted in a manner that advances the underlying purpose of the rule. *Feature Realty, Inc. v. Kirpatrick & Lockhart Preston Gates Ellis, LLP*, 161 Wn.2d 214, 164 P.3d 500 (2007).

Washington's Admission to Practice Rule 8(b) states that an outof-state lawyer:

may appear as a lawyer in any action or proceeding only (i) with the permission of the court or tribunal in which the action or proceeding is pending, and (ii) in association with an active member of the Washington State Bar Association, who shall be the lawyer of record therein, responsible for the conduct thereof, and present at proceedings unless excused by the court or tribunal.

In interpreting APR 8(b), the Court of Appeals correctly applied the de novo review standard. The plain language of the rule requires that any *pro hac vice* counsel have an association with an active member of the Washington State Bar. Giving effect to the rule's plain meaning, the Court of Appeals correctly acknowledged that "failure to meet either requirement [of APR 8(b)] precludes out-of-state counsel's

representation." At the time local counsel withdrew, Ms. Coleman no longer satisfied the requirements of APR 8(b) and, therefore, lost her *pro hac vice* status and ability to practice in Washington. The Court of Appeals' interpretation also advances the purpose of the rule, which is to "reasonably assure the court that the out-of-state attorney is competent, will follow the local rules of practice and procedure, and will act in an ethical and respectful manner." (citing *Hahn v. Boeing Co.*, 95 Wn.2d 28, 34, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980)). The rule is unambiguous in its requirements and the Court of Appeals properly applied it as written.

Despite her claim that the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted APR 8(b), Ms. Williams cites absolutely no authority to support such a claim. Given that the Court of Appeals interpreted the rule in accordance with its plain language and gave effect to the drafter's intent, in accordance with Washington law, there is no basis for her challenge to the appellate court's ruling.

Furthermore, Ms. Williams cites no authority to support her claim that "proper notice and an opportunity to be heard" was required before Ms. Coleman was no longer permitted to appear in Washington. In fact, there is no indication under Washington law that APR 8(b) confers a legal or constitutional right (and Ms. Williams cites no such authority). There is no loss of life, liberty or property (or deprivation of any related

substantive right) in this case. See *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 569 (1972); Washington State Constitution, Art. I, Sec. 3. Out-of-state counsel do not have a right to practice in Washington; even if you meet the association requirement of APR 8(b), trial courts have discretion as to whether to grant an application to practice in Washington. *Hahn v. Boeing Co.*, 95 Wn.2d 28, 34, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980). As a result, Ms. Coleman was not entitled to notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding cancellation of her *pro hac vice* status and the Court of Appeals' ruling should be upheld.

B. Court of Appeals Properly Ruled on Motions for Summary Judgment

1. Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Abuse of Discretion Standard to Striking of Untimely Materials in Summary Judgment Proceeding

Despite Ms. Williams' claims to the contrary, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with both *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) and *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). As the most recent decision of the Washington Supreme Court on the standard of review applicable to striking untimely submissions in summary judgment proceedings, *Keck* states:

We hold that the trial court must consider the factors from Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wash.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), on the record before striking the evidence. The court's decision is then reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

Folsom and Keck in support of her argument that the Court of Appeals erred when it applied an abuse of discretion standard to the trial court's rejection of untimely materials in response to summary judgment. Ms. Williams' argues that, instead, a de novo standard of review should have been applied and that this Court should accept review as the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a holding from the Washington Supreme Court and other appellate court decisions, namely Folsom and Keck. This argument is flawed for several reasons.

First, Ms. Williams improperly relies on the appellate decision in Keck v. Collins (181 Wash. App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014)), which held that a de novo rather than abuse of discretion standard should apply to striking untimely summary judgment materials. However, given the issuance of a Washington Supreme Court decision overruling that holding, the appellate decision no longer is good law. As quoted above, upon review of the Keck appellate decision, the Washington Supreme Court held that an abuse of discretion standard (and not a de novo standard) applied.

Second, *Folsom* similarly does not support Ms. Williams' argument that a de novo standard of review applies. While she cites *Folsom* for the proposition that "all trial court rulings made in conjunction

with a summary judgment motions," the Washington Supreme Court in *Keck* expressly distinguished *Folsom*, holding that it applied only to evidentiary rulings on admissibility – not rulings on "timeliness under our civil rules" to which an abuse of discretion standard applies. *Keck*, 184 Wn.2d at 368.

2. To the Extent the Trial Court and Court of Appeals Failed to Analyze the *Burnet* Factors in Striking Untimely Materials, it Resulted in Harmless Error and No Prejudice to Ms. Williams

In *Keck*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the decision to exclude untimely disclosed evidence is a severe sanction requiring the court to consider the three *Burnet* factors on the record. *Id.* at 368 – 369. Failure to do so results in an abuse of discretion. *Id.* (citing *Blair v. Ta-Seattle E. No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011)). Candidly, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals analyzed the *Burnet* factors. However, at most this resulted in harmless error and did not prejudice Ms. Williams or affect the final outcome of the case.

"A harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wash. 2d 221, 559 P.2d 548 (1977). Error without prejudice is not grounds for reversal. *Thomas v. French*, 99 Wash.2d 95, 104, 659

P.2d 1097 (1983). The appellant bears the burden of proving that an error was prejudicial. See *Griffin v. West RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 91,18 P.3d 558 (2001) (appellant must prove error was prejudicial); *Raab v. Wallerich*, 46 Wn.2d 375, 383, 282 P.2d 271 (1955). Error will not be considered prejudicial unless it affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial. *French*, 99 Wn.2d at 104.

Here, the failure to analyze the *Burnet* factors related to the untimeliness of Ms. Williams' summary judgment opposition materials did not affect the final outcome of the case and, therefore, resulted in harmless error. Both the trial and appellate courts upheld striking Ms. Williams' opposition materials on two independent bases. Thus, even though they did not apply the *Burnet* factors with regard to striking the materials as untimely, such materials would have been stricken anyway based on the fact that they were filed by an attorney who is not licensed in Washington. A decision based upon erroneous ground will be sustained if correct on any ground. *Rockwood Blvd., In re*, 170 Wash. 64, 15 P.2d 652 (1932).

Given that the trial and appellate courts' error related to striking untimely documents would not have changed the outcome of the case (as those documents would have been stricken on another, independent basis), the error was not prejudicial to Ms. Williams. Moreover, Ms. Williams

fails to allege any prejudice in her Petition. Absent evidence of prejudice, there are no grounds for dismissal based on such error.

Furthermore, there can be no prejudice to Ms. Williams where the Court of Appeals considered the stricken evidence in determining whether summary judgment was appropriate. In reviewing the granting of summary judgment, the Court of Appeals reviewed the entire record, including stricken portions, under a de novo standard of review. See Goodwin v. Wright, 100 Wash. App. 631, 6 P.3d 1 (2000) (holding evidence called to the attention of the trial court is properly before appellate court, whether or not it was considered by the trial court). Hence, the Court of Appeals properly engaged in the same inquiry as the trial court. Hodge v. Raab, 151 Wash.2d 351, 88 P.3d 959 (2004). By reviewing the evidence that Ms. Williams' claims was erroneously stricken, the Court of Appeals eliminated any potential prejudice associated with its decision to uphold the striking of her opposition materials.

C. Court of Appeals Properly Upheld Granting of Summary Judgment

As noted above, the Court of Appeals properly reviewed de novo the trial court's granting of summary judgment, including consideration of the stricken materials. Although Ms. Williams alleges that the Court of Appeals erred when it did not review de novo whether First Transit and Central Bible met their initial burden of proof on summary judgment, she provides absolutely no argument or evidence in support thereof.

An appellate court may affirm a trial court's disposition of a summary judgment motion on any basis supported by the record. Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wash. App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994). As acknowledged by the Court of Appeals, a moving party is entitled to summary judgment when there is a "complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case [which] necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. Cho v. City of Seattle, 185 Wash. App. 10, 15, 341 P.3d 309 (2014). Here, Defendants' respective Motions for Summary Judgment (and their Briefs to the appellate court) extensively illustrated that Ms. Williams lacked admissible evidence to support her claims. The Court of Appeals reviewed all existing evidence and, in its Opinion, detailed Ms. Williams' failure to present any evidence in support of duty, breach and causation with respect to both First Transit and Central Bible. As also noted by the Court of Appeal, at most Ms. Williams presented inadmissible affidavits of a speculative and conclusory nature. The Court of Appeals' holding that Ms. Williams presented no evidence to demonstrate any genuine issue of material fact is properly supported by the record.

Finally, in detailing the existing evidence (or lack thereof) and the arguments presented by First Transit and Central Bible, it is clear that they not only met their initial burden on summary judgment, but that the Court of Appeals found so as well. The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the entirety of the summary judgment evidence de novo and upheld a finding in favor of Defendants. Although not expressly stated, a finding that Defendants' met their initial burden of showing Ms. Williams' complete lack of support for her claims is inherent in the Court of Appeals' decision and clear from its discussion of the evidence (and lack thereof).

III. "AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW" SHOULD BE STRICKEN

Ms. Williams filed her Petition for Review by the Washington State Supreme Court on October 15, 2015. By letter dated December 4, 2015, the Supreme Court ordered First Transit and Central Bible to serve any responses to such Petition by January 4, 2016. On December 31, 2015 at 4:27 p.m., not even one business day before responses were due, an individual from the e-mail account "youngelizabeth4019@yahoo.com," whom we assume was operating on behalf of Ms. Williams, improperly served an "Amended Petition for Review by the Washington State Supreme Court." Based on First Transit's diligent review, there is no evidence that this "Amended Petition" was filed with the Washington

Supreme Court. The Supreme Court should strike and/or refuse to consider this "Amended Petition" under RAP 10.7 on the following grounds:

First, pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, Ms. Williams does not have a right to amend her petition for review at a time of her choosing. Moreover, at no point did Ms. Williams move to amend her petition for review under Title 17 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Second, given that there is no provision of the Rules of Appellate Procedure entitling Ms. Williams to serve an amended petition for review, Ms. Williams' "Amended Petition" is untimely under the rules.

Third, the service of an "Amended Petition" causes severe prejudice to First Transit and Central Bible because it raises a number of new issues and arguments. Given that responses to Ms. Williams' original Petition for Review are due on January 4, 2015 and the "Amended Petition" was served on a holiday weekend (with no business days in between service and the due date of responses), there is insufficient time for First Transit to substantively respond to any of the newly raised issues.

IV. CONCLUSION

Despite Ms. Williams' improper filing of an "Amended Petition," First Transit submits that this Response contains adequate reasons, and support therefore, to uphold the Court of Appeals decision. The Court of

Appeals ruling upholding summary judgment and the striking of Ms. Williams' opposition materials was correct. First Transit respectfully requests that this Court affirm this ruling and deny Ms. Williams Petition for Review.